BYLAWS OF THOMAS MORE UNIVERSITY

ARTICLE I NAME, PURPOSE, AND MISSION STATEMENT

NAME

Section 1. The name of the corporation is THOMAS MORE UNIVERSITY.

PURPOSE

- Section 2. (a) The purpose of the corporation shall be set forth in its Articles of Incorporation, as have been and shall be amended from time to time.
 - (b) It shall be a further purpose of the University to promote the moral, spiritual, and religious values of its students, and the University will be publicly identified as a Catholic University.
 - (c) It shall be a further purpose of the University to provide an academic and collegial community, which will help students acquire a mature understanding of their faith, develop their spiritual lives, and prepare them for their calling as men and women of faith in the world.
 - (d) It shall be a further purpose of the University to recognize the obligations of a Catholic university as established in *Ex Corde Ecclesiae* and to fully comply.

MISSION STATEMENT

Section 3. Thomas More University is the Catholic Liberal Arts University of the Diocese of Covington, Kentucky. Inspired by the Catholic Intellectual Tradition, we challenge students of all faiths to examine the ultimate meaning of life, their place in the world, and their responsibility to others.

ARTICLE II BOARD OF TRUSTEES

- Section 1. (a) The government and corporate powers of Thomas More University shall be vested in and exercised by the Board of Trustees.
 - (b) The total number of voting members of the Board of Trustees is set in the Articles of Incorporation at not less than twenty (20) and no more than twenty-five (25), as set from time to time by the Board.
 - (c) Non-voting ex officio members of the Board and the Faculty representative shall not count toward the maximum number of voting members of the Board.
- Section 2. (a) Ex officio members of the Board of Trustees shall be the Roman Catholic
 Bishop of the Diocese of Covington (Chancellor of the University), or the duly qualified
 and acting administrator of the Diocese, the President of Thomas More University, the
 Faculty General Assembly Chairperson, the Student Government Association President,

and one religious sister collectively designated by the following communities: the Benedictine Sisters of Covington, the Congregation of Sisters of Divine Providence of Kentucky, and the Sisters of Notre Dame of Covington.

- (b) The ex officio religious sister designee shall serve for a length of term as designated by Article II, Section 3(b) and shall have the power to vote.
- Section 3. (a) The remaining members of the Board of Trustees shall be elected by the Board. Those persons nominated for election to the Board must be approved by the Bishop of the Diocese of Covington (Chancellor of the University) or the duly qualified and acting administrator of the Diocese.
 - (b) Except as provided in Sections 2 and 4 herein, such elected members of the Board shall serve for a length of term as designated by the Board at the time of their election not to exceed three (3) years and in such manner as to allow for continuity.
 - (c) Election shall take place at the March meeting, except to fill vacancies, which election can take place at any meeting.
- Section 4. (a) It is determined that of the members of the Board, one (1) shall be a member of the Faculty of Thomas More University (hereinafter referred to as the Faculty representative), one (1) shall be the current Chairperson of the Faculty General Assembly of the University, and one (1) shall be the current president of the Student Government Association.
 - (b) The Faculty representative's term shall be for three (3) years, the Faculty General Assembly Chairperson's term shall be for two (2) years, and the Student Government Association President's term shall be for (1) year.
 - (c) The Faculty representative, the Faculty General Assembly Chairperson, and the Student Government Association President shall not have the power to vote, but shall have voting rights on the committees of the Board to which they are assigned. These non-voting members shall have the right to make motions, enter into debate, answer questions, and address the Board.
- Section 5. (a) Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Bylaws, elected members are not eligible for more than three (3) consecutive three (3) year terms. This nine (9) year limitation may be extended by the number of years in a shorter than three (3) year term served prior to serving three (3) full three (3) year terms.
 - (b) The above limitation shall not apply to any person when serving in the capacity of Chairperson, Chairperson-Elect, or Past-Chairperson. Absence from Board service for one (1) year or more makes a former member eligible for re-election to the Board.
- Section 6. (a) Any elected member of the Board of Trustees may be removed from office for cause, which is defined as any of the following:
 - excessive absence from Board or Committee meetings;

- (2) failure to perform the duties of a Trustee;
- (3) breach of confidentiality;
- (4) failure to disclose a conflict of interest in accordance with these Bylaws;
- (5) conviction of a crime involving dishonesty or immoral conduct or a plea of guilty to the same;
- (6) public disagreement and/or animosity with the Board to the degree that a climate of harmonious leadership is no longer possible; or,
- (7) any other conduct or activity which the Board determines in good faith jeopardizes the proper operation and/or administration of the University.
- (b) Only the Executive Committee can initiate an action for the removal of a Trustee. Upon the written request of the Executive Committee, the Chairperson shall refer the matter to the Committee on Trustees, which shall meet with the Trustee to discuss the Trustee's possible removal for cause and to attempt to reach a mutually satisfactory resolution. If a mutually satisfactory resolution cannot be reached and the Committee on Trustees recommends removal for cause, the Chairperson shall call a special meeting of the Board to consider such removal. At such special meeting, the members of the Committee on Trustees shall present the case for removal and the Trustee proposed to be removed shall be given the opportunity to address the Board and to present the case against removal. Upon the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the Trustees then in office, excluding the Trustee proposed to be removed, the Chairperson will submit the Board's decision to the Chancellor of the University who will make the final decision.
- Section 7. A maximum of two (2) Trustee Emeriti may be appointed by the Chancellor to serve as Special Consultants to the Board of Trustees. These two (2) positions shall be reserved for those Trustees with records of distinctive service. Special Consultants shall be appointed for a one (1) year term and may be reappointed without limit. A Special Consultant shall not be counted as a member of the Board of Trustees for any purpose.

ARTICLE III POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD

- Section 1. The Board of Trustees shall bear full responsibility for the University as a corporate entity. The essential functions of the Board shall be policymaking, the assurance of sound management, and active participation in the provision of necessary funds. The Board has the ultimate responsibility to determine general, educational, financial, and related policies deemed necessary for the administration and development of the University in accordance with its stated purposes and goals.
- Section 2. It shall determine the general educational policies of the University including those that govern Faculty tenure and academic freedom. It shall determine, review, and evaluate the aims, programs, and functions of the University consistent with the spirit and intent of the University's charter. It shall approve the addition or deletion of specific degree programs and any changes, which alter the nature of the basic curriculum design or degree requirements.
- Section 3. (a) It shall direct the use and investment of all funds of the corporation and the administration of its property. Any transaction, including the alienation of any property, which shall increase the indebtedness of the University by a sum greater than

- two million dollars (\$2M) shall be approved by the Chancellor of the University, and then the Board of Trustees upon recommendation from the Finance Committee.
- (b) It shall establish the annual operating and capital budgets of the University. The President shall submit proposed budgets to the Finance Committee, and, upon approval, to the Board.
- Section 4. When the Office of the President becomes vacant by death, resignation, or removal by the Board of Trustees, the Board, having due regard for Article IV, Section 5(e), shall elect a new President with approval of the Chancellor.
- Section 5. The Board of Trustees is responsible for promoting Faculty members to the rank of full professor and for granting tenure, upon recommendation of the President.
- Section 6. It shall periodically assess the President's performance.
- Section 7. It shall authorize the award of honorary degrees.
- Section 8. It shall periodically review its own performance.

ARTICLE IV OFFICERS OF THE CORPORATION

Section 1. The officers of the corporation shall be the Chancellor, Chairperson, Chairperson-Elect, President, Secretary, and Treasurer, and such other officers as the Board may from time to time designate.

CHANCELLOR OF THE UNIVERSITY

- Section 2. (a) The Roman Catholic Bishop of the Diocese of Covington, or the duly qualified and acting Administrator of the Diocese, shall be the Chancellor of the University.
 - (b) The Chancellor, in person or through a delegate, shall preside at the ceremonies of inauguration of the President of the University, at the commencement exercises of the University, and at other official academic convocations. All degrees awarded by the University shall bear the signature of the Chancellor or an authorized facsimile thereof.
 - (c) The Chancellor of the University shall serve as an ex officio member of the Board and of all Board Committees with voting privileges.

CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Section 3. (a) The Chairperson of the Board shall be appointed by the Chancellor, serve as the chief executive officer of the Board, call and preside at all regular meetings of the Board and Executive Committee meetings, report to the Chancellor, and have such other powers and duties as the Board from time to time may prescribe.

- (b) The Chairperson shall serve as an ex officio member of all Board Committees with voting privileges.
- (c) The Chairperson, in conjunction with the Chairperson-Elect, as stated in Article IV, Section 4(d) herein, shall conduct the annual performance review of the President of the University.

CHAIRPERSON-ELECT OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

- Section 4. (a) The Chairperson-Elect shall be appointed at the March meeting by the Chancellor. The Chairperson-Elect will succeed the Chairperson for a two (2) year term.
 - (b) In the absence of the Chairperson, the Chairperson-Elect shall perform the duties of the office of the Chairperson and have other powers and duties as the Board may from time to time prescribe.
 - (c) In the event that the Chairperson is unable or unwilling to complete his/her term, the Chairperson-Elect will fulfill the unexpired term of the Chairperson and continue as Chairperson for his/her succeeding term.
 - (d) The Chairperson-Elect, in conjunction with the Chairperson, as stated in Article IV, Section 3(c) herein, shall conduct the annual performance review of the President of the University.

PRESIDENT OF THE UNIVERSITY

- Section 5. (a) The President of the corporation shall service as the chief executive officer of the corporation, shall be the President of the University, and shall be the official advisor to the Board of Trustees and its Executive Committee.
 - (b) The President shall have the general responsibility for administering the policies approved by the Board of Trustees. The President shall, as educational and administrative head of the University, exercise a general superintendence of all the affairs of the University and bring such matters to the attention of the Board as are appropriate to keep the Board fully informed in meeting its policymaking responsibilities.
 - (c) Furthermore, the President shall have the power to perform all acts and execute all documents to make effective the actions of the Board or its Executive Committee and, except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, shall be an ex officio member of the Board without the power to vote and of all committees of the Board with voting privileges. The President shall have the right to make motions, enter into debates, answer questions, and address the Board.
 - (d) The President's duties and those of other major administrative officers will be approved by the Board of Trustees and made known to the Faculty and Staff.
 - (e) In the event of a vacancy in the Office of the President, the Board shall

appoint an Acting President, with approval of the Chancellor of the University, until a new President has been appointed. The Board may appoint a special Presidential Search Committee to submit nominations for candidates to the Office of the President.

SECRETARY OF THE BOARD

- Section 6. (a) The Secretary of the corporation shall be the Executive Assistant of the President of the University.
 - (b) The Secretary shall inform Board members of all meetings and keep records of its proceedings. The Secretary shall also serve as Secretary of the Executive Committee and keep records of its proceedings and also perform such duties as are normally performed by corporate secretaries, including the keeping of a minute book and a corporate seal.
 - (c) The Secretary of the corporation shall keep a register of the members of the Board and the date and terms of their election.

TREASURER OF THE BOARD

- Section 7. (a) The Treasurer of the corporation shall be the Vice President for Finance.
 - (b) The Treasurer shall have custody of all the funds and securities of the University, which shall come into the Treasurer's hands.
 - (c) The Treasurer shall keep accurate accounts, in such forms as may be approved by the Board of Trustees, of all the financial transactions of the University and shall close said accounts and balance said books of accounts at least once in each year.
 - (d) The Treasurer shall, whenever required by the President or by the Board of Trustees, render a report of all monies received and disbursed by the University and of the financial condition of the University, and shall perform such other appropriate duties and have such power as may be required of, or conferred upon the Treasurer by the Board of Trustees.

ARTICLE V MEETINGS

- Section 1. Meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be held at least four (4) times a year, usually during the months of September, December, March, and June.
- Section 2. Written notice of the date and time of the meetings shall be mailed to each member of the Board at least ten (10) days prior to the day of the meeting.
- Section 3. Additional special meetings of the Board of Trustees may be called at the discretion of the Chancellor or the Chairperson. At any regular or special meeting of the Board, a quorum shall consist of a majority of the Board members.
- Section 4. (a) Any action that may be authorized or taken at a meeting of the Trustees,

may be authorized or taken without a meeting with the affirmative written vote or approval of all Trustees who would be entitled to notice of a meeting held for such purpose.

- (b) An electronic mail, or an electronic or other transmission capable of authentication that appears to have been sent by a Trustee and that contains an affirmative vote or approval of that Trustee is a signed writing for the purposes of this section. The date on which that electronic mail, or electronic or other transmission is sent, is the date on which the writing is signed.
- Section 5. Any regular or special meeting of the Trustees may be conducted by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment provided that all persons participating in the meeting can hear or otherwise communicate with each other.
- Section 6. An executive session of the Board may be called by the Chancellor of the University or Chairperson of the Board during any regular or special meeting of the Trustees. While in executive session, only the independent Trustees (and such other persons as the Chancellor of the University or Chairperson of the Board may invite) will be present.

ARTICLE VI COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

GENERAL PRINCIPLES

- Section 1. (a) Committee work is a highly collaborative process within the Board of Trustees whose purpose is focused on the goals of the University while supporting the Mission Statement.
 - (b) The Standing Committees of the Board shall be the Executive Committee, Committee on Trustees, Academic Affairs Committee, Finance Committee, Institutional Advancement Committee, Buildings and Grounds Committee, and Enrollment Management and Student Affairs Committee.
 - (c) The Board may from time to time authorize other Ad Hoc or Standing Committees.
- Section 2. (a) The Chairperson of the Board of Trustees, in consultation with the President, shall appoint the Chairpersons of all Standing and Ad Hoc Committees as well as the members of each committee.
 - (b) Membership on Board committees is not limited to Trustees of the University.
 - (c) All members of Board committees, except as otherwise stated in Article VI herein, shall have voting privileges at the committee level. All Board members, voting and non-voting, who are assigned to a committee shall have voting privileges at the committee level.

- (d) As provided in Article IV Sections 2(c), 3(b), and 5(c), the Chancellor, Chairperson, and President shall serve as an ex officio member of all Board committees with voting privileges.
- Section 3. The term of office for committee chairs and members shall be one (1) year. Each is eligible for reappointment.
- Section 4. Except as otherwise provided in the Bylaws, the purpose of the committees is to advise the Board of Trustees.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

- Section 1. The Executive Committee shall be composed of the Chancellor, the Chairperson of the Board, the Chairperson-Elect of the Board, the Chairperson of each Standing Committee, and the President.
- Section 2. (a) The Executive Committee shall conduct the business of the Board during intervals between general meetings, and shall be authorized to make such decisions and to initiate such actions as are necessary and helpful for carrying out the functions of the Board, except that it may not amend the Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws, elect a President of the University, establish the annual budget, buy, sell or dispose of real estate or other capital assets nor incur long-term debt, confer degrees, or review the University's mission or purposes.
 - (b) Its powers shall be used only as necessary and appropriate on routine business, or on emergency matters which cannot or should not be delayed until the Board's next regularly scheduled meeting or until a special meeting of the Board could be called as specified in these Bylaws.
 - (c) A quorum at any Executive Committee meeting shall consist of a number equal to or exceeding two-thirds (2/3rds) of the number of members thereof.
- Section 3. Meetings may be called at any time by the Chancellor, Chairperson of the Board, or the President. Any member of the Board has the right to request of the Chancellor, Chairperson, or President that a meeting of the Executive Committee be convened.
- Section 4. Minutes of all proceedings shall be taken by the Secretary of the Board and after the minutes have been approved by the Chairperson of the Board, copies shall be distributed to each member of the Board as soon as possible, but no more than thirty (30) days after the meeting.

ACADEMIC AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

- Section 1. This Committee shall consist of its chairperson and four (4) to six (6) other members appointed by the Chairperson of the Board. The Provost shall be an ex officio member of the Academic Affairs Committee, without power to vote, and shall not be counted as a member of the Committee for any purpose.
- Section 2. It shall be the duty of the Committee:

- (a) To help the Board study and appraise the quality of the University's academic programs;
- (b) To assess the consistency of the programs with the mission of the University;
- (c) To assess the programs relative to other comparable institutions in terms of teaching load, class size, student/faculty ratios, instructional expenditures, research and other relevant factors;
- (d) To advise the Finance Committee on the specifications and requirements for financing the academic programs; and,
- (e) To review policies affecting the Faculty of the University, including salary ranges, pensions, and other personnel policies.

FINANCE COMMITTEE

- This Committee shall consist of its chairperson and four (4) to six (6) other members appointed by the Chairperson of the Board. The Treasurer of the University shall be an ex officio member of the Finance Committee, without power to vote, and shall not be counted as a member of the Committee for any purpose.
- Section 2. It shall be the duty of the Committee:
 - (a) To receive and examine reports regarding the finances of the University and its business management;
 - (b) To review annual operating and capital budgets prepared under the direction of the President for recommendation to the Board;
 - (c) To review major financial transactions not provided for in the budget and submit proposed variances with recommendations to the Board;
 - (d) To review investment policies and performances and make appropriate recommendations to the Board;
 - (e) To recommend the designation of an independent auditor each year and shall cause to be prepared and submitted to the Board, at least once a year, an audit of the financial condition of the University as of the close of the fiscal year. The Committee may request a formal management letter to accompany such financial statement;
 - (f) To review property management policies, advise the Board of Trustees on all matters concerning the development or sale of all real estate and all land owned by the University, and make recommendations to the Board of Trustees; and,
 - (g) To make recommendations on the finances and investments of the University.

INSTITUTIONAL ADVANCEMENT COMMITTEE

- Section 1. This Committee shall consist of its chairperson and four (4) to six (6) other members appointed by the Chairperson of the Board. The Vice President for Institutional Advancement shall be an ex officio member of the Institutional Advancement Committee, without power to vote, and shall not be counted as a member of the Committee for any purpose.
- Section 2. It shall be the duty of the Committee:
 - (a) To examine and make recommendations regarding the development and public relations programs of the University; and,
 - (b) To assume leadership with other members of the Board in acquiring necessary funds for the maintenance and progress of the University and its programs.

BUILDINGS AND GROUNDS COMMITTEE

- Section 1. This Committee shall consist of its chairperson and four (4) to six (6) other members appointed by the Chairperson of the Board. The Vice President for Finance shall be an ex officio member of the Buildings and Grounds Committee, without power to vote, and shall not be counted as a member of the Committee for any purpose.
- Section 2. It shall be the duty of the Committee:
 - (a) To concern itself with land use, the planning and construction of new facilities, and the maintenance of the physical facilities of the University;
 - (b) To review the annual operating and capital budgets for the buildings and grounds and make recommendations to the Board of Trustees concerning these matters; and,
 - (c) To examine and make recommendations regarding the physical facilities of the University, including issues related to maintenance and utilities.

ENROLLMENT MANAGEMENT AND STUDENT AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

- Section 1. This Committee shall consist of its chairperson and four (4) to six (6) other members appointed by the Chairperson of the Board. The Vice President for Enrollment Management shall be an ex officio member of the Enrollment Management and Student Affairs Committee, without power to vote, and shall not be counted as a member of the Committee for any purpose.
- Section 2. It shall be the duty of the Committee:
 - (a) To concern itself with all aspects of enrollment management of the University;
 - (b) To help the Board study and appraise admissions policies and practices, assist in formulating enrollment goals, assist with matters related to financial aid and the retention program of the University; and,
 - (c) To concern itself with student activities by reviewing student life policies which include matters of discipline, residential policies, student organizations, athletics, counseling, and policies relating to publications and general student life, and make recommendations to the Board of Trustees as may be required to assure a high quality of student life.

COMMITTEE ON TRUSTEES

- Section 1. This Committee shall consist of the Chairperson of the Board of Trustees, the Chairperson-Elect, and the President of the University.
- Section 2. Terms of office are for one (1) year and there is no limit to the number of terms that can be served.
- Section 3. It shall be the duty of this Committee:
 - (a) To search for qualified persons to be elected to the Board; and,
 - (b) To submit to the Chancellor of the University, for his approval, the names of the proposed new members for election, and after receiving approval from the Chancellor, recommend such names to the Board for election. The Committee shall annually review the

performance of the incumbent Trustees who are eligible for re-election and recommend such names to the Board. It shall develop and administer a program of orientation with the President for newly elected Trustees. The Committee shall also nominate Trustees Emeriti. It shall report to the Board of Trustees at the annual meeting and otherwise as circumstances dictate.

ARTICLE VII INDEMNIFICATION

STANDARD OF CONDUCT

Each person (and his/her heirs, executors, and administrators) who is or has been a Trustee, Section 1. director or officer of the University (hereinafter referred to as a "Covered Person"), shall be indemnified by the University against all reasonable costs and expenses (including but not limited to attorney's fees) and against all liabilities (including but not limited to judgments, liens, fines, penalties, and reasonable settlements) that may be paid by or imposed against a Covered Person in connection with or resulting from any pending, threatened or completed claim, action, suit or proceeding, and whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or legislative (including any appeal relating thereto); in which a Covered Person may be involved as a party or witness or otherwise, by reason of his/her being or having been a Trustee, director or officer of the University or by reason of any action taken or not taken in such capacity, whether or not the Covered Person continues to be such at the time such liability or expense shall have been paid or imposed, provided that the Covered Person acted in good faith, in what he/she reasonably believed to be the best interests of the University, and in addition, in any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe that his/her conduct was lawful. The termination of any claim, action, suit or proceeding by judgment, settlement (whether with or without court approval), conviction or upon a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, or its equivalent, shall not create a presumption that a Covered Person did not meet the standards of conduct set forth herein.

INDEMNIFICATION

Section 2. Every Covered Person who has been, based on a final adjudication rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction, successful on the merits or otherwise with respect to any claim, action, suit, or proceeding of the character described in Section 1 shall be entitled to indemnification as a matter of right. Except as provided in the preceding sentence, any indemnification under Section 1 may be made by the Board of Trustees for any Covered Person or any employee of the University, in the Board's discretion, but only if either (1) the Board, acting by a quorum consisting of Trustees who were not parties to (or who are finally adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to have been successful with respect to) such claim, action, suit or proceeding, shall have found that the Covered Person or employee has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 1; or (2) if there be no such disinterested quorum, independent legal counsel (who may be the regular counsel of the University) shall have delivered to the University written advice to the effect that in his/her judgment such applicable standard has been met. Notwithstanding anything in this Article to the contrary, no person shall be indemnified in respect of any claim, action, suit or proceeding initiated by such person or his/her personal or legal representative (other than an action to enforce indemnification rights hereunder or an action initiated with the approval of a majority of the Board).

ADVANCES

Section 3. Expenses incurred with respect to any claim, action, suit or proceeding may be advanced by the University prior to the final disposition thereof upon receipt of an undertaking by the Trustee, director or officer to repay such amount as shall ultimately be determined not to be payable to him/her hereunder.

INSURANCE

The University, by authorization of the Board of Trustees, shall purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a Trustee, director or officer, against any liability asserted against him/her and incurred in any such capacity, or arising out of his/her status as such, whether or not the University would have the power to indemnify him/her against such liability under this Article.

VALIDITY

Subject to the limitations provided in this Article, it is the intention of these Bylaws to give the Trustees, directors and officers the maximum indemnification permitted under the law of the Commonwealth of Kentucky as it now exists or may exist in the future. The rights of indemnification provided hereunder shall not be deemed exclusive of other rights to which any such Trustee, director or officer now or hereafter may be entitled, shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a Trustee, director or officer, and shall inure to the benefit of such person's heirs and legal representatives. If any provision or portion of this Article shall be found, in any action, suit or proceeding, to be invalid or ineffective, the validity and effect of the remaining parts shall not be affected.

ARTICLE VIII CONFLICT OF INTEREST

- Section 1. (a) A Trustee shall be considered to have a conflict of interest if:
 - Such a Trustee has existing or potential financial or other interests which impair or might reasonably appear to impair such Trustee's independent, unbiased judgment in the discharge of his/her responsibilities to the University; or,
 - (2) Such a Trustee is aware that a member of his/her family (which for the purposes of this paragraph shall be a spouse, parents, siblings, children and any other relative if the latter resides in the same household as the Trustee), or any other organization in which such a Trustee (or member of his/her family) is an officer, director, employee, member, partner, trustee, or controlling stockholder, has such existing or potential financial or other interests.
 - (b) All Trustees shall disclose to the Board any possible conflict of interest at the earliest practicable time. No Trustee shall vote on any matter, under consideration at a Board or Committee meeting, in which such Trustee is considered by the Board to have a conflict of interest. The minutes of such a meeting shall reflect that disclosure was made and that the Trustee having a conflict of interest abstained from voting. Any Trustee who is uncertain whether a conflict of interest may exist in any matter may request the Board or appropriate committee to resolve the question by a majority vote.

ARTICLE IX DISCRIMINATION PROHIBITED

Thomas More University is committed to providing an environment in which all persons are safe from discrimination and which adheres to all federal and state laws banning discrimination. Aligning with this commitment, Thomas More University will not discriminate against any employee, applicant for employment, student, or applicant for admission on the basis of race, color, religion or creed, disability of a qualified individual, veteran status, military service, age, national or ethnic origin (including ancestry), citizenship, genetic information, pregnancy, sex, or sexual preference (or orientation).

ARTICLE X FISCAL YEAR

Section 1. The fiscal year shall begin on June 1 and end on May 31.

ARTICLE XI AMENDMENTS

Section 1. These Bylaws may be amended at any regular or special meeting of the Board of Trustees by a two-thirds (2/3rds) vote of the members of the Board, subject to the approval of the Chancellor, provided that such an amendment has been submitted in writing by the Secretary to each member ten (10) days before the meeting.

ARTICLE XII PROCEDURES

Section 1. In all matters not covered by the Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws, the procedures of the Board of Trustees shall be governed by the most recent version of Robert's Rules of Order.

ARTICLE XIII UNIVERSITY SEAL

The University Seal shall consist of a circular device around which are the words: "THOMAS MORE UNIVERSITY, CRESTVIEW HILLS, KENTUCKY 1921," and it shall contain the University coat of arms, and such seal as affixed on the left margin hereof is hereby adopted as the corporate seal of Thomas More University.

These Bylaws were adopted on March 1, 2018 at a regular meeting of the Board of Trustees of Thomas More University by a two-thirds (2/3rds) affirmative vote of the Board after proper written notice with approval of the Chancellor.

Bishop Roger J. Foys

Chancellor, Thomas More University

Date: March 1, 2018

SEAL OF THE UNIVERSITY:

Marc Neltner

Chairperson, Board of Trustees

Date: March 1, 2018